



Sudan University of Science and Technology College of Graduate Studies

Preparation and characterization of carboxymethylated gum from *pilliostigama reticulatum* seeds gum

تحضير وتشخيص ودراسة خواص الكربوكسي ميثيل من صمغ بذور الخروب

A Dissertation Submitted in Partial Fulfillment of the Requirements of the Master Degree in Chemistry

> By Khawla Abd Elwahab Elawad Ali (B.Sc., Honors chemistry)

Supervisor: Dr. Essa Esmail Mohammad Ahmad

December 2019

Dedication

To who teach us the deeply meaning of love,

To who teach us how to be strong,

To whom I need them all my life,

To whom I find them when I need help,

To My continuous support in this life,

My parents, husband, brother and daughter

Acknowledgement

Priers to Allah for giving me strength and patience to complete this research.

I would like to thank my supervisor Dr. Essa Esmail Mohammad Ahmad, for his suggestions, assistance, support and patience and understanding throughout this research.

My thanks are extended to the members of the Department of Chemistry at Sudan University of Science and Technology for their technical support.

I am deeply grateful to my friend Halla Esmail for her continuous help and moral support.

Abstract

Carboxymethylated *Piliostigama reticulatum* seed gum (CM-PRSG) was prepared by treating the PRSG seed gum with monochloroacetic acid (MCA) in the presence of sodium hydroxide (NaOH). Various reaction conditions were optimized. The influence of the reaction temperatures and times, concentrations of sodium hydroxide and MCA on the degree of substitution (DS) were investigated. The result shows that Optimum preparation conditions for a CM-PRSG with DS of 0.0453 are: reaction temperature, 35°C; reaction time, 30 min; NaOH concentration was 4.15 mmol and MCA concentration was 4.15 mmol. The yield was 6.5 grams. Fourier-transform infrared analysis of the products indicates the successful carboxymethylation by the presence of the characteristics absorption bands at 1741 and 1000-1100 cm⁻¹.

المستخلص

تم تحضير كاربوكسي ميثايل صمغ البيلوستغما روتكلولاتم من صمغ البيلوستغما روتكلولاتم عن طريق المعالجة بحمض المونوكلورواسيتك اسيد في وجود هيدروكسيد صوديوم تحت ظروف تفاعل مختلفة . تمت دراسة تاثير درحة الحرارة و الزمن و تركيز حمض المونوكلورواسيتيك اسيد و تركيز هيدرو كسيد الصوديوم علي درجة الحرارة و الزمن و تركيز حمض المونوكلورواسيتيك اسيد و تركيز هيدرو كسيد الصوديوم علي درجة الاستبدال.أظهرت النتائج ان الظروف المثلى لتحضير كاربوكسي ميثايل عمغ بدور هيدرو الميتيك اسيد و تركيز هيدرو و معن دراسة تاثير و معني درجة الاستبدال.أظهرت النتائج ان الظروف المثلى لتحضير كاربوكسي ميثايل صمغ بذور البيلوستغما روتكلولاتم بدرجة استبدال 0.0453 هي : درجة حرارة 35 و زمن تفاعل 30 دقيقة و هيدروكسيد صوديوم بتركيز 1.15 مل مول وحمض المونوكلورواسيتك اسيد بتركيز 1.15 مل مول وحمض المونوكلورواسيتك اسيد بتركيز 1.15 مل مول وحمض المونوكلورواسيتك اسيد بتركيز 1.15 مل مول وكان وزن الناتج 5.5 جرام .تحليل المركب النهائي بالأشعة تحت الحمراء أكد حصول تفاعل 100 مول وكان وزن الناتج 5.5 جرام .تحليل المركب النهائي بالأشعة تحت الحمراء أكد حصول تفاعل 100 مول وكان وزن الناتج 1.55 من مول وذلك بظهور الإمتصاصات المميزة لها عند 1741 والمنطقة(¹-1700 cm⁻¹).

Table of Contents

No	Title	Page No
	Dedication	i
	Acknowledgement	ii
	Abstract	iii
	المستخلص	iv
	Table of Contents	V
	List of Tables	viii
	List of Figures	ix
	List of Abbreviations	Х
	Chapter one	
	Introduction and literature review	
1.1	Polysaccharides	1
1.1.1	Perfectly Linear Polysaccharides	1
1.1.2	Branched Polysaccharides	2
1.1.3	Linearly Branched Polysaccharides	2
1.1.4	Polysaccharides with Carboxyl Groups	2
1.1.5	Polysaccharides with Strongly Acidic Groups	2
1.1.6	Modified Polysaccharides	3
1.1.7	Uses of polysaccharides	3
1.2	Galactomannan	3
1.2.1	Physical properties of Galactomannans	5
1.2.2	Physico-chemical properties of galactomannans	5
1.2.3	Uses of Galactomannans	6
1.3	Botanical classification of Piliostigma reticulatum	7
	(DC) Hochst	

1.3.1	Discreption of Piliostigma reticulatum	7
1.3.2	Piliostigma reticulatum gum	8
1.4	Carboxymethylation	9
1.5	Previous studies on carboxymethylation of polysaccharides	9
1.6	Objective	12
	Chapter two	
	Materials and methods	
2.1	Sample collection and pretreatments	13
2.2	Chemicals	13
2.3	Optimization of the carboxymethylation of	13
	Piliostigma retculatum seed gum	
2.4	Preparation of carboxymethyl piliostigma retculatum	15
	seed gum with the optimum conditions	
2.5	Degree of substitution	16
2.6	FT-IR analyses of crude and carboxy methylated	16
	samples	
	Chapter three	
	Results and discussion	
3.1	Determination of optimum reaction conditions	17
3.1.1	Effect of concentration of NaOH and MCA on the	17
	Ds value	
3.1.2	Effect of time and temperature on the DS value	18
3.1.3	Effect of temperature and the concentration of NaOH	19
	on the Ds value	
3.1.4	Effect of temperature and the concentration of MCA	20
	on the Ds value	
3.1.5	Effect of time and the concentration of NaOH on the	21

	Ds value	
3.1.6	Effect of time and the concentration of MCA on the	22
	Ds value	
3.1.7	The optimum conditions	22
3.2	Degree of substitution	23
3.3	FT-IR analysis	23
	Conclusion and recommendations	25
	References	26
	Appendix	34

List of Tables

Table no	Table titel	Page no
Table 1.1	The solubility of <i>Piliostigma reticulatum</i> gum at	8
	60 °C	
Table 1.2	Solubility of <i>Piliostigma reticulatum</i> gum in	8
	organic solvents	
Table2.1	The replicates obtained using minitab program and	14-15
	the variable above to determine the optimum	
	condition of the carboxymethylation	
Table 3.1	Reaction parameters investigated in the	17
	carboxymethylation of PRSG and the Ds values	
	obtained in each experiment	

List of Figures

Figure	Figure name	Page no
no		
Figure3.1	Surface plot of DS vs. the concentration of NaOH; MCA	18
Figure3.2	Surface plot of DS vs. time; temperature	19
Figure3.3	Surface plot of DS vs. the concentration of NaOH; temperature	20
Figure3.4	Surface plot of DS vs. the concentration of MCA; temperature	21
Figure3.5	Surface plot of DS vs. time; the concentration of NaOH	21
Figure3.6	Surface plot of DS vs. time; the concentration of MCA	22
Figure3.7	The optimum condition	22
Figure3.8	FT-IR spectrum for PRSG	23
Figure3.9	FT-IR spectrum for CM-PRSG	23

List of Abbreviations

PR	Piliostigama reticulatum
PRS	Piliostigama reticulatum seed
PRSG	Piliostigama reticulatum seed gum
CM-PRSG	Carboxymethyl Piliostigama reticulatum seed gum
AGU	Anhydrous glucose unit
DS	Degree of substitution
FT-IR	Fourier-transform infrared spectroscopy
MCA	Mono-chloro-acetic acid
SMCA	Sodium mono-chloro-acetic acid
CTG	Cassia tora gum
CM-CTG	Carboxymethyle cassia tora gum
GG	Guar gum
ER	reaction efficiency

Chapter one

Introduction and literature review

1.1 Polysaccharides

Polysaccharides are consist of many monosaccharide units joined together through glycosidic linkages, which can be broken by hydrolysis they are widely and abundantly distributed in nature, fulfilling roles as: Structure-forming skeletal substances (cellulose, hemicellulose and pectin in plants; chitin, mucopolysaccharides in animals).. There may be hundreds or even thousands of monosaccharide unites per molecule. Their acidic hydrolysis vields monosaccharaides. Partial chemical and enzymatic hydrolysis, in addition to total hydrolysis is important for structural elucidation. Enzymatic hydrolysis produces oligosaccharides, the analysis of which elucidates monosaccharide sequences and the positions and types of linkages. Polysaccharides (glycans) can consist of one type of sugar structural unit (homoglycans) or of several types of sugar units (heteroglycans). The monosaccharides may be joined in a linear pattern (as in cellulose and amylose) or in a branched fashion (amylopectin, glycogen, guaran). The frequency of branching sites and the length of side chains can vary greatly (glycogen, guaran) (Cui ,2000, Morrison, et al., 2002, Huang, et al., 2004, Crini, 2005, Anklam, et al., 2005, Coviello, et al., 2007, McMurry, 2008, Harden, et al., 2009, Mukherj, et al., 2010).

The outlined functions of polysaccharides are based on their highly variable properties. These properties are related to their structures in a general way.

1.1.1 Perfectly Linear Polysaccharides

Compounds with a *single* neutral monosaccharide structural unit and with one type of linkage (as occurs in cellulose or amylose) are denoted as, perfectly, linear polysaccharides. They are usually insoluble in water and can be solubilized only under drastic conditions, e.g., at high temperature, or by cleaving H-bonds with alkalies or other suitable reagents (Cui, 2000, Anklam, et al., 2005).

1.1.2 Branched Polysaccharides

Branched polysaccharides (amylopectin, glycogen) are more soluble in water than their perfectly linear counterparts since the chain–chain interaction is less pronounced and there is a greater extent of solvation of the molecules. Solutions of branched polysaccharides, once dried, are readily rehydrated. Compared to their linear counterparts of equal molecular weights and equal concentrations, solutions of branched polysaccharides have a lower viscosity (Yang,*et al.*, 1998,Anklam, *et al.*, 2005).

1.1.3 Linearly Branched Polysaccharides

Linearly branched polysaccharides, i.e., polymers with a long "backbone" chain and with many short side chains, such as guaran or alkyl cellulose, have properties which are a combination of perfectly linear and of branched molecules. The long "backbone" chain is responsible for high solution viscosity. The presence of numerous short side chains greatly weakens interactions between the molecules, as shown by the good solubility and rehydration rates of the molecules and by the stability even of highly concentrated solutions (Anklam, *et al.*, 2005, Dakia, *et al.*, 2008).

1.1.4 Polysaccharides with Carboxyl Groups

Polysaccharides with carboxyl groups (pectin, alginate, carboxymethyl cellulose) are very soluble as alkali salts in the neutral or alkaline pH range. The molecules are negatively charged due to carboxylate anions and, due to their repulsive charge forces, the molecules are relatively stretched and resist intermolecular associations. The solution viscosity is high and is pH-dependent (Okamoto, *et al.*, 1994, Ralph, *et al.*, 1995, Anklam, *et al.*, 2005).

1.1.5 Polysaccharides with Strongly Acidic Groups

Polysaccharides with strongly acidic residues, present as esters along the polymer chains (sulfuric, phosphoric acids, as in furcellaran, carrageenan or

modified starch), are also very soluble in water and form highly viscous solutions. Unlike polysaccharides with carboxyl groups, in strongly acidic media these solutions are distinctly stable (Anklam, *et al.*, 2005).

1.1.6 Modified Polysaccharides

Modification of polysaccharides, even to a low substitution degree them brings about substantial changes in their properties.

The solubility in water, viscosity and stability of solutions are all increased by binding neutral substituents to linear polysaccharide chains. Thus the properties shown by methyl, ethyl and hydroxypropyl cellulose correspond to those of guaran and locust bean gum. The effect is explained by interference of the alkyl substituents in chain interactions, which then facilitates hydration of the molecule. An increased degree of substitution increases the hydrophobicity of the molecules and, thereby, increases their solubility in organic solvents. Binding acid groups to a polysaccharide (carboxymethyl, sulfate or phosphate groups) also results in increased solubility and viscosity for reasons already outlined. Some derivatized polysaccharides, when moistened, have a pasty consistence (Tolstoguzov, 1991, Okamoto, *et al.*, 1994, Ralph, *et al.*, 1995, Anklam, *et al.*, 2005).

1.1.7 Uses of polysaccharides

polysaccharides are utilized to a great extent in food processing, pharmaceutical industry and cosmetics either in native or modified form, as thickening or gelsetting agents stabilizers for emulsions and dispersions; film-forming, coating substances, and it also used as a stabilizers in preparation of metallic nano-composites (Anklam, *et al.*, 2005 Gupta, *et al.*, 2014, Gupta, *et al.*, 2015).

1.2 Galactomannans

Galactomannans are heterogeneous polysaccharides composed of a β (1–4)-dmannan backbone with a single d-galactose branch linked α (1–6). They differ from each other by the mannose/galactose (M/G) ratio, another definition was done by Aspinall that is, those mannans containing more than 5% of d-galactose. These gums are mostly obtained from the endosperm of dicotyledonous seeds of numerous plants, particularly from Leguminosae. The endosperm has several functions: it serves as food reserve for germinating seeds and it retains water, preventing the complete drying of the seeds (McCleary, *et al.*, 1974, Dea, *et al.*, 1975 McCleary, *et al.*, 1975, McCleary, *et al.*, 1976, Robinson, *et al.*, 1982, Wielinga, 2009).

There are four major sources of seed galactomannans: locust bean gum (LBG) (*Ceratonia siliqua*), guar gum (GG) (*Cyamopsis tetragonoloba*), tara (*Caesalpinia spinosa Kuntze*), and fenugreek (*Trigonella foenum-graecum*). Among these, only locust bean and guar gums are of considerable industrial importance. The use of tara and fenugreek gums is limited due to availability and price. Other sources of galactomannans have also been explored (Dea, *et al.*, 1975, Wielinga, 2009).

The two main groups of galactomannan polysaccharides are those derived from (a) The endosperm of plant seeds, the vast majority of which originate in the *Leguminosae*.

(b) Microbial sources, in particular, the yeasts and other fungi.

The majority of galactomannans originate from *Leguminosae* family. 70 species of the *Leguminosae* have been identified containing galactomannans. True galactomannans, have also been extracted from members of *Annonaceae*, the *Convolvulaceae* and the *Palmae*, *Ebenaceae* and *Loganiaceae*. The general procedure to obtain galactomannans from seeds combines extraction and purification processes. Briefly, the seed hull is removed from the seeds and the germ is separated from the endosperm. The most used separation procedures are: filtration, sifting and in some cases (e.g., lab scale) they are separated manually. The endosperm is dissolved in water (at temperatures that range between 20 and 120 °C), followed by a precipitation step using alcohol (in ratio water: alcohol ranges between 1:1 and 1:3). No effects of the alcohol on galactomannans' structure have been reported. Ground endosperms are the source of trade

galactomannan gums. The recovered endosperm halves, of the required purity, of carob, tara and guar, and fenugreek seeds, are ground to obtain a fine offwhite powder (McCleary, *et al.*, 1974, Dea, *et al.*, 1975, McCleary, *et al.*, 1975, McCleary, *et al.*, 1976, Wielinga, 2009).

1.2.1 Physical properties of Galactomannans

Galactomannans forms viscous, colloidal dispersions when hydrated in water. The molar ratio of galactose to mannose varies with plant origin but is typically in the range of 1.0:1.0–1.1, 1.0:1.6–1.8, 1.0:3.0 and 1.0:3.9–4.0 for fenugreek, guar, tara, and locust bean gums, respectively. The conformation of the 1 \rightarrow 4-linked β -d-mannan backbone is similar to that of cellulose, so that it does not dissolve in water. The galactose side groups are considered to sterically disturb the interchain association and crystallization, thereby imparting certain water solubility to galactomannans. As a result, the solubility of the galactomannans increases with the degree of galactosyl substitution: fenugreek and guar gums are readily, dissolved in cold water, but heating is needed to reasonably, solubilize locust bean gum in water (Dea, *et al.*, 1975, Wielinga, 2009, Prajapati, *et al.*, 2013).

1.2.2 Physico-chemical properties of galactomannans

For a better understanding of properties of galactomannans one should know the basic structure of their building units. It is obvious that mannose is occupied with cis-OH groups in the galactomannan polymer. Therefore, an enhanced deposition to form hydrogen bonds between the polymannan chains is expected as long as neighboring groups like galactose do not develop steric hindrance to prevent galactomannan chains from coming too close together and prevent mannose cis-OH groups in forming hydrogen bonds. Comparing different galactomannans, it is obvious that, since additional cross linking via hydrogen bonds goes hand in hand with less solubility, an increase in substitution leads to higher solubility. The best solubility is found with 1,1-galactomannan (related to the position of the galactose in the galactomannan backbone) in which the high

substitution by galactose obviously establishes so much steric hindrance that it dissolves easily in cold water and delay attack of degrading enzymes for some time .However, 1.,2-galactomannan where on average each second mannose is blocked by galactose, shows so much steric hindrance and so little hydrogen bonding between molecular chains that it hydrates instantly. 1,4-Galactomannan does not dissolve in cold water but its solubility in boiling water is already better than that of 1,5-galactomannan due to slightly higher degree of substitution by galactose side groups compared to 1,5-galactomannan. M/G ratio varies considerably depending on the galactomannan physico-chemical properties. Variations in galactomannans' structure, particularly in M/G ratio and fine structure, cause significant changes in solubility, viscosity and in the interactions between galactomannans and other polysaccharides. Usually, galactomannans with higher galactose content (such as GG) are ready soluble in water and exhibit low tendency to form gels as a result of synergistic interactions, when compared with galactomannans with a lower M/G ratio (such as LBG). The higher solubility of GG has been attributed to the presence of a higher number of side chains, which keep the main mannose chains far enough to prevent effective intermolecular interactions. On the other hand, galactomannans with few side chains (higher M/G ratio) can interact with other polysaccharides due to their long blocks of unsubstituted mannose units. From the foregone discussion, it can be concluded that galactomannans are rich in hydroxyl groups; this enables them to bind and take up water and rich in cis-OH groups, which allow chain-chian aggregation via hydrogen bonding so that hydration becomes more complicated if interchange cross linking takes place. By substitution with galactose, nature establishes steric hindrance between the molecules and thus enhances water solubility (Prajapati, et al., 2013).

1.2.3 Uses of galactomannans

They are used as industrial hydrocolloids (thickening and gelling agents) beside their wide uses as additives in food products (mainly to make them appealing and attractive to the consumer) and in pharmaceutical as well as cosmetic products. Furthermore, they should also improve shelf-life by binding water, control the texture, influence crystallization, prevent creaming or settling, improve the freeze-thaw behaviors, prevent syneresis and the retrogradation of starch products, maintain turbidity. This means that these food additives find applications mainly in convenience food, dairy products, including frozen products (ice cream), soft drinks and fruit juices, bread and pastry, fruit preserves, baby food, and as household gelling agents in puddings, flans and pudding powder, as dietary fibres, and in pet foods. Other non-food applications of galactomannans are found in the textile industry (carpet dyeing and textile printing), and in the paper, mining, explosive, drilling, construction, oil field and chemical industries (Kapoor, *et al.*, 1998, Chaubey, *et al.*, 2001, Srivastava, *et al.*, 2005, Prajapati, *et al.*, 2013).

1.3 Botanical classification of Piliostigma reticulatum (DC) Hochst

Family: *Caesalpiniaceae* (*Lequminosae* – *Caesalpinioideae*)

Synonyms: Bauhinia reticulate DC, Bauhinia glabra A. chev, Bauhinia glauca A. chev [El Amine, 1990, Brink and Achigan-Dako, 2012].

1.3.1 discreption of Piliostigma reticulatum

Piliostigma reticulatum is a *leguminous* plant belonging to the family *Caesalpiniaceae*, a family that comprises of trees, shrubs or very rarely climbers. The tree is perennial in nature and its vernacular names include Abefe, Monkey bread, Camel's foot, Kalgoand Okpoatu and these vary according to locality. *P. reticulatum* has a close resemblance to *P. thonningii* to such an extent that they may easily be confused with each other, although when examined very closely, distinguishing morphological features become readily observable. *P. reticulatum* has smaller leaves and smoothness on the lower side whereas *P. thonningii* has larger leaves and hairiness on the lower side. *P. reticulatum* is widely distributed in Africa and Asia. Ethno medically, the bark, root, pod, young stem or leaves have been used for treating leprosy, smallpox,

coughs, ulcer, heart pain, gingivitis, snake bite, dysentery, fever, wounds and a variety of closely related disease conditions (Diack, *et al.*, 2000, Babajide, *et al.*, 2008, Bright, *et al.*, 2017, Hernandez, *et al.*, 2015, Mustifa, *et al.*, 2017).

1.3.2 Piliostigma reticulatum gum

P. reticulatum gum is a type of polysaccharide gum which consists mainly of mannose (42.58%) and galactose (20.27%). It contains a protein which has an average value of 17.19%. Furthermore, the gum contains more than eight elements with potassium, calcium, silicon, phosphorous and iron represent the major ones. The gum is almost insoluble in water and in a number of organic solvents such as acetone, ethanol, methanol and isopropanol. On the other hand, the gum shows noticeable solubility in alkali at 60 °C like sodium carbonate and bicarbonate while in sodium hydroxide it forms a gel. The Solubility of *Piliostigma reticulatum* gum is shown in Tables (1.1) and 1.2 [Abow, 2017].

Solvent	Gum	Gum pH
H ₂ O	8.2%	6.28
0.5 M Na ₂ B ₄ O ₇	Gel	8.28
0.1 M Na ₂ CO ₃	48.9%	10.59
0.5 M NaHCO ₃	80%	8.53
0.1 M NaOH	Gel	12.53
0.5 M NaOH	Gel	12.80
1 M NaOH	Gel	12.94

Table 1.1: the solubility of *Piliostigma reticulatum* gum at 60 C°

 Table (1.2): Solubility of *Piliostigma reticulatum* gum in organic solvents

Solvent	Solubility
Ethanol	Insoluble
Acetone	Insoluble

1.4 Carboxymethylation

Carboxymethylation is the introduction of a carboxymethyl group into various side chains. It is one of the various strategies used for functionalization of natural polymers. It is, widely, employed modification approach because of its ease of application, lower cost of chemicals and versatility of the product. Carboxymethyl derivatives are, usually, polyelectrolyte with better aqueous solubility. Carboxymethylation of polysaccharides is based on the William synthesis in which the polysaccharide alkoxide is reacted with monochloroacetic acid and the primary and secondary alcohol groups are substituted by carboxymethyl group (Eyler, *et al.*, 1947, Gurd ,1967, Gurd, 1972, Hebeish, *et al.*, 1990, Novák, *et al.*, 1993, Sharma, *et al.*, 2003, Adinugraha, *at el.*, 2005, Pushpamalar, *et al.*, 2006, Varshney, *et al.*, 2006, Kamel, *et al.*, 2007, Chen, *et al.*, 2010, Badwaik, *at el.*, 2016, Sahin, 2018).

Carboxymethylation reaction of gums is a two-step process accompanied by an undesired side reaction (Tijsen, *et al.*, 1999, Sharma, *et al.*, 2003, Gupta, *et al.*, 2004, Wu, *et al.*, 2017, Rajpand, *et al.*, 2015).

I. Generation of alkoxide of gum by the action of NaOH.

 $CAG-OH + NaOH \rightarrow CAG-O-Na + H_2O....(1)$

II. SN₂ reaction of the alkoxide formed with SMCA to form CM-CAG.

 $CAG-O-Na + ClCH_2COO-Na \rightarrow CAG-O-CH_2COO-Na + NaCl....(2)$

The side reaction occurs in both liquid bulk and gum phase and results in the formation of sodium glycolate from NaOH and SMCA.

 $NaOH + ClCH_2COO - Na \rightarrow HO-CH_2COO - Na + NaCl \dots (3)$

1.5 Previous studies on carboxymethylation of gums

Sharma, et *al.*, [2003], studied the factors influencing carboxymethylation of cassia tora gum. The reaction was optimized with respect to concentrations of sodium hydroxide , MCA , reaction times and temperatures. The highest degree of substitution (0.099) was obtained for 0.03 mol/l cassia tora gum, 0.084 mol/l monochloroacetic acid, 0.125 mol/l sodium hydroxide, 75℃ temperature,

reaction time of 60 minutes and solvent medium of 80:20 (methanol:water) ratio. The rheological studies of carboxymethylated cassia tora gum solutions of 1-2% displayed a non-Newtonian pseudo-plastic behavior.

In another study Gupta, *et al.*, [2004] investigated the optimization of carboxymethylation of *Cassia occidentalis* seed gum. Concentrations of monochloroacetic acid and sodium hydroxide, solvent ratio, reaction time, and reaction temperature were studied. Optimum conditions which give a DS of 0.464 were found to be 0.053 mol monochloroacetic acid, 0.100 mol sodium hydroxide, reaction temperature of 80 °C, reaction time of 60 min, solvent ratio of 80:20 (methanol: water) and gum liquer ratio is 1:10. The viscosity of carboxymethylated *Cassia occidentalis* seed gum of 2% solution was about 38 times greater compared to native gum. Rheological studies showed the non-Newtonian pseudo plastic nature of carboxymethylated *Cassia occidentalis* seed gum.

Kumar, *et al.*, [2012] studied the modification of kondagogu gum (GK) by carboxymethylation and the potential application of the product for pharmaceutical purposes. Carboxymethylation of gum was carried out by reaction of the gum with monochloroacetic acid under alkaline conditions. The results revealed that carboxymethylation of GK provided means of preparing mucoadhesive, sustained-release bead formulation of metformin which releases the drug by zero-order release kinetics.

Carboxymethylated seeds of *Cassia angustifolia* gum were utilized in wide, industrial applications (Rajput, *et al.*, 2015). The gum was etherified with sodium monochloroacetate (SMCA) in a methanol-water system in the presence of alkali (NaOH) at different reaction conditions. The optimum DS of 0.474 was obtained at reflux temperature using 80% methanol, 0.03 mol (as AGU) of *C. angustifolia* seed gum, 0.100 mol of NaOH, 0.05 mol of SMCA, 10:1 liquor/gum ratio and a reaction time of 60 min. The microbial resistance and paste quality of carboxymethylated *C. angustifolia* gum was found to be better

than the unmodified gum. The increase in the viscosity of 1% and 2% Carboxymethylated *C. angustifolia* gum solutions is about 32.19 and 35.65 times respectively in comparison to 1% and 2% unmodified *C. angustifolia* gum solutions. Furthermore, the rheological studies revealed the non-Newtonian pseudo plastic behaviour of Carboxymethylated *C. angustifolia* gum.

Highly substituted carboxymethyl Cassia tora gum (CM-CTG) was prepared from Cassia tora gum (CTG) by the treatment with monochloroacetic acid (MCA) in ethanolic aqueous solutions after alkalization under different reaction conditions [Wu, at el., 2017]. The influence of the etherification temperature, alkalization and etherification times, molar ratio of sodium hydroxide to MCA (n_{NaOH}/n_{MCA}) , theoretical degree of substitution (DS_t), and weight percentage of water $(W_{H2O}\%)$ in the solution on the degree of substitution (DS) and reaction efficiency (RE) of the reaction were investigated. Optimum preparation conditions for a CM-CTG with DS of 1.05 are: etherification temperature, 60 C° ; alkalization time, 60 min; etherification time, 180 min; n_{NaOH}/n_{MCA} , 2.1; DS_t, 1.4; and W_{H20}%, 20%. Fourier-transform infrared analysis of the products indicated that carboxymethylation successful. The degree of crystallinity of CM-CTG decreases with increasing DS, as shown by X-ray diffraction measurements. Rheological studies showed that all the CM-CTG thickeners are pseudo plastic fluids, and, as the DS of the CM-CTG thickener increases, the pastes become less shear thinning and more like Newtonian fluids. Therefore, highly substituted CM-CTG has the potential to be applied as a dye printing paste for textile.

1.6 Objective of this research is

The main objective of the present study is to optimize the carboxymethylation reaction of *Piliostigma reticulatum* seeds gum by adopting the following specific objective

- 1. To prepare carboxymethylated PRSG
- 2. To study the effect of concentrations of MCA ,NaOH,temperature and reaction time on the Ds of the product

Chapter two

Materials and methods

2.1 Sample collection and pretreatments

Piliostigama reticulatum fruit pods were collected from Southern Darfur State (Nyala area) during seasons 2014-2016. The fruit pods were dehusked and *Piliostigama reticulatum* seeds were removed. The dried seeds were then packed in plastic containers and stored in a dry place for further treatments.

The dried seeds were kept in 60% sulphuric acid (H_2SO_4) solution for 30 minutes then it was soaked in distilled water for 24 h. The soft coat was then peeled off and the endosperm were separated manually from the germ and dried at room temperature [Dakia, *et al.*, 2008]. The separated endosperm were ground to obtain *Piliostigma retculatum* gum and kept in a labeled plastic container for experimental works.

2.2 Chemicals

Sulphuric acid (assay = 98.08%) was purchased from loba chemie. Monochloroacetic acid-MCA (assay = 95.5%), was purchased from SDFCL. Methanol (Density = 0.79 g/ml at 20°C, assay = 99.8%) was purchased from chem.-lab NV. Ethanol (Density = 0.808-0.812 g/ml at 20°C, b.p= 78.5 ° C, assay = 94.8-95.8%), was purchased from Duksan Reagents. Methyl orange indicator was purchased from SDFCL. Sodium hydroxide (Assay = 98%), was purchased from Nice Laboratory. Glacial acetic acid (Boiling point = 118 at 20°C, minimum assay = 99.7%), was purchased from Duksan Reagents.

2.3 Optimization of the carboxymethylation of *Piliostigma* retculatum seed gum

Carboxymethylation of the *Piliostigma retculatum seed* gum (PRSG) was performed based on the previous studies [Rajput, *at el.*, 2015] with slight modifications in which the ratio of the reactants was kept as 1:1. In a typical experiment, 8.3 mmol per anhydrous glucose unit (AGU) of PRSG; was

dispersed in 10.38 mmol solution of NaOH at room temperature with continuous stirring for 25 min followed by addition of 16.6 mmol of MCA with continuous stirring for another 25 min. The reaction mixture was heated at 75 °C for 30 minutes. The reaction mixture was occasionally shaken during the course of the reaction. The reaction product was separated by centrifugation for 10 min, dissolved in water and neutralized by acetic acid (1:1 v/v). Finally, the reaction product was precipitated in ethanol and separated again by centrifuging for 5 min and washed twice with aqueous methanol followed by pure methanol. The product was dried at room temperature. Exactly similar steps were repeated by varying the concentration of NaOH, concentration of MCA, reaction time and temperature. Table 2.1 shows the detailed steps of optimization of the carboxymethylation process.

No	Temp (°C)	Time (minute)	MCA (mmole)	NaOH (mmole)
1	75	60	16.6	10.38
2	35	60	16.6	10.38
3	75	60	4.15	10.38
4	35	30	10.38	10.38
5	35	60	10.38	4.15
6	55	60	10.38	10.38
7	75	60	10.38	16.6
8	55	60	10.38	10.38
9	55	60	4.15	16.6
10	55	60	10.38	10.38
11	55	30	10.38	4.15
12	55	30	4.15	10.38
13	75	60	10.38	4.15

Table2.1: The replicates obtained using minitab program and the variable above to determine the optimum condition of the carboxymethylation.

Table 2.1 continued

14	55	60	16.6	4.15
15	35	60	4.15	10.38
16	55	90	16.6	10.38
17	35	60	10.38	16.6
18	55	90	10.38	4.15
19	75	30	10.38	10.38
20	55	60	4.15	4.15
21	75	90	10.38	10.38
22	55	60	10.38	10.38
23	55	90	10.38	16.6
24	35	90	10.38	10.38
25	55	60	16.6	16.6
26	55	30	10.38	16.6
27	55	90	4.15	10.38

Reaction conditions: [PRSG] = 8.3 mmol

Optimum conditions for 8.3 mmol gum are 4.15mmol NaOH,4.15 mmol MCA at 35°C for 30 mint.

2.4 Preparation of carboxymethyl *piliostigma retculatum seed* gum at optimum conditions

Carboxymethylation of the *Piliostigma retculatum seed* gum (PRSG) was performed as follows : 10g (55.5 m-mole) per AGU of PRSG were dispersed in distilled water containing 1.11 g (27.75 m-mole) NaOH at room temperature with continuous stirring for 25 min followed by the addition of 2.62 g (27.75 mmole) MCA with continuous stirring for another 25 min. The reaction mixture was heated (35° C) for 30 min. The reaction mixture was occasionally shaken during the course of the reaction. The reaction product was separated by centrifugation for 10 min, dissolved in water and neutralized using acetic acid (1:1 v/v). The reaction product was precipitated in ethanol and separated again by centrifuging for 5 min, washed twice with aqueous methanol followed by pure methanol. The product was dried at room temperature.

2.5. Degree of substitution

A 0.5 g sample of CM-PRSG, calculated as oven-dry product, was ashed at 700 $^{\circ}$ C for 15 to 20 min. The ash was dissolved in 40 mL boiling distilled water before being titrated with 0.01 N H₂SO₄, using methyl orange indicator. Boiling of the solution was done three times between repeated titrations to evaporate carbon dioxide. The DS value was then calculated from the amount of titrated acid (V/mL) and the amount of PRSG (G/g), using following equation:

$$A = \frac{C * V}{G}$$
$$Ds = \frac{0.162A}{1 - 0.08A}$$

Where

A is the milliequivalents of sulphuric acid required per gram of the sample.

C is the concentration of sulfuric acid (N).

V is the volume consumed of sulphuric acid (ml).

G is the weight of carboxymethylated *piliostigma retculatum seed* gum (g).

DS is the degree of substitution (Hong, et al., 1978).

2.6. FT-IR analyses of crude and carboxy methylated samples

The samples of PRSG and CM-PRSG were subjected to FT-IR spectroscopy in a Fourier-transform infrared spectrophotometer (no of scans 8, resolution 4 [1/cm]) in range of 4000 cm⁻¹ to 400 cm⁻¹ and as KBr pellet.

Chapter three

Results and discussion

3.1 Determination of optimum reaction conditions

The optimization of the process of carboxymethylation with reference to DS was performed by varying the reaction parameters such as concentrations of NaOH and MCA, reaction temperature, reaction time using Minitab program. Each of the above parameter was varied (as shown in Table 3.1).

Sample No	DS	Sample No	DS
1	0.0354	15	0.0442
2	0.0356	16	0.0375
3	0.0342	17	0.0341
4	0.0373	18	0.0381
5	0.0359	19	0.0351
6	0.032	20	0.0376
7	0.041	21	0.0386
8	0.0395	22	0.0344
9	0.037	23	0.0336
10	0.032	24	0.0304
11	0.0382	25	0.0304
12	0.0377	26	0.0357
13	0.035	27	0.0344
14	0.039	28	0.0376

 Table 3.1: The DS values obtained in each experiment

3.1.1 Effect of concentration of NaOH and MCA on the DS value

Figure 3.1 shows the dependence of DS on the two factors. The decrease in DS with the increase in the NaOH concentration up to 16.6 m-mol indicated that the

competitive side reaction which leads to glycolate formation increases. The increase in the DS on increasing MCA concentration up to 16.6 m-mol is



Figure 3.1: Surface plot of DS versus the concentrations of NaOH ; MCA because the increase in MCA concentration in the vicinity of the PRSG hydroxyls thereby facilitating the carboxymethylation reaction (Sharma, et al,. 2003, Gupta, et al., 2004, Kumar, et al., 2012, Rajput, et al., 2015, Wu, et al., 2017). At low MCA concentration and high NaOH concentration the DS value is high then the value increases again at low NaOH concentration and high MCA concentration. This means that at high NaOH the adsorption and swelling of the gum is at maximum (Abow, 2017) which leads to penetration of the and hence better reactivity with MCA reacting materials and the carboxymethylation reaction is preferred at this conditions. Abow (2017) has found that PRSG at all tested NaOH concentrations (0.1, 0.5 and 1M) forms gel. Also at high MCA and low NaOH the carboxymethylation is preferred because of the availability of MCA in the vicinity of -OH groups of the gum although the swelling is not at maximum.

3.1.2 Effect of time and temperature on the DS value

Figure 3.2 shows the dependence of DS on the two factors. The decrease in DS with the increase in temperature up to $(75^{\circ}C)$ is due to the fact that PRSG forms gel with NaOH (Abow, 2017) and the reaction system became sticky which reduced the shaking efficiency and the uniformity of the etherification reaction



Figure 3.2: surface plot of Ds vs. time; temperature

. In addition, heating could increase the glycolate formation and thereby lowering the DS value. The enhancement of DS by prolonging the duration of reaction from 30 to 90 min is a direct consequence of the favorable effect of time on swelling of PRSG as well as the diffusion and adsorption of the reactants with the ultimate effect of better contacts between the etherifying agents and PRSG (Sharma, et *al.*, 2003, Gupta, *et al.*, 2004, Kumar, *et al.*, 2012, Rajput, *et al.*, 2015, Wu, *et al.*, 2017). At low temperature and low duration time as well as at high temperature and long duration time the DS value is high. High DS value at high temperature and long duration time could be interpreted by better swelling of PRSG resulting from diffusion and adsorption of the reactants at long duration time although the viscosity of the system is high. At low temperature and duration time, the increase in DS could be due to lower viscosity of the system which permits the accessibility of the reactants to –OH groups of the gum despite the insufficient swelling at these conditions.

3.1.3 Effect of temperature and the concentration of NaOH on the DS value Figure 3.3 shows the dependence of DS on the two factors. The increase in DS with the increase in the NaOH concentration up to 16.6 mmol indicated that the formation of carboxymethylated product prevails over its competitive side reaction (glycolate formation) (Sharma, et *al.*, 2003,Gupta, *et al.*, 2004, Kumar, *et al.*, 2012, Rajput, *et al.*, 2015, Wu, *et al.*, 2017). The value of DS decreases on

increasing the temperature due to the increase in the viscosity of the system which leads to the entanglements of the polymer chains and inhibition of movement and penetration of the reactants to the interior of the polymer.



Figure 3.3: Surface plot of DS vs. the concentration of NaOH; temperature All these lead to lower reactivity and possibility of domination of glycolate formation instead of carboxymethylation. The increase in DS value at low temperature and low concentration of NaOH is attributed to lower viscosity despite the low diffusion and adsorption of the reactants. This means that at these conditions the viscosity governs the reaction and become the dominant factor. Again, at high temperature and high concentration of NaOH the DS value increases which can be explained by the domination of high swelling and diffusion of the reactants to the interior of the polymer. This facilitates the carboxymethylation reaction.

3.1.4 Effect of temperature and the concentration of MCA on the DS value Figure 3.4 Shows The dependence of DS on the two factors .The increase in DS with increasing MCA concentration up to 16.6 mmol is due to the availability of MCA molecules in the neighborhood of –OH groups of the gum. This enhances the carboxymethylation reaction thereby increasing the DS value (Sharma, et *al.*, 2003,Gupta, *et al.*, 2004, Kumar, *et al.*, 2012, Rajput, *et al.*, 2015, Wu, *et al.*, 2017). On the other hand, the value of DS decreases on increasing the temperature due to viscosity factor.





At low temperature and low MCA concentration and at high MCA concentration and high temperature the value of DS is high. This could be attributed to the effect of low viscosity in the first case and the better diffusion and swelling in the second case.



3.1.5 Effect of time and the concentration of NaOH on the DS value

Figure 3.5: surface plot of DS vs time; the concentration of NaOH

Figure 3.5 shows the dependence of DS on the two factors. The decrease in DS with the increase in the NaOH concentration up to 16.6 mmol indicated that the competitive side reaction which leads to glycolate formation is dominated at these conditions thereby lowering the DS value (Sharma, et *al.*, 2003, Gupta, *et al.*, 2004, Kumar, *et al.*, 2012, Rajput, *et al.*, 2015, Wu, *et al.*, 2017) The

influence of time on DS alternatively has shown marginal increase with increasing reaction time.

3.1.6 Effect of time and the concentration of MCA on the DS value

Figure 3.6 shows the dependence of DS on the two factors. There is a gradual decrease in DS value with increasing MCA concentration up to certain range (10 to 14 mmol) then there is a gradual increase in DS up to 16.6 mmol. In contrary,



Figure 3.6: Surface plot of DS versus time and the concentration of MCA the value of DS decreases on increasing the time (Sharma, et *al.,* 2003,Gupta, *et al.,* 2004, Kumar, *et al.,* 2012, Rajput, *et al.,* 2015, Wu, *et al.,* 2017)

3.1.7. The optimum conditions



Figure 3.7: The optimum conditions

From figure (3.7) which is obtained by using minitab program the optimum condition of preparing CM-PRSG using distilled water as a solvent for PRSG 8.3 mmol per AGU are 4.15 mmol NaOH and 4.15 mmol MCA at 35°C for 30 minutes.

3.2 Degree of substitution at optimum conditions

The degree of substitution for the optimized CM-PRSG using ash method is (0.0453)

3.3 FT-IR analysis



Figure 3.8: FT-IR spectrum for PRSG



Figure 3.9: FT-IR spectrum for CM-PRSG

Figure 3.8 and 3.9 shows The FT-IR spectra of PRSG and CM-PRSG respectively. As can be seen from, a number of characteristics peaks were noticed. These peaks could be explained as follows: at 3430 cm^{-1} is attributed to O–H stretching vibration, at 2927 cm⁻¹ is due to C–H saturated hydrocarbon

stretching vibration, at 1646 cm⁻¹ is ascribed to O–H bending or adsorbed water. Furthermore, at 1396 cm⁻¹ is due to C–H bending vibration, at 1083 cm⁻¹ is attributed to C–O stretching vibration. On the other hand, the FT-IR spectrum of CM-PRSG is displayed in Figure 3.9 which has the characteristic absorption peaks almost typical to the ones noticed for PRSG and the observable difference is the presence of a weak absorption band which appeared as a shoulder peak at 1741 cm⁻¹. This peak could ascribed to carbonyl stretching vibration of carboxymethyl substituent.

Conclusion and recommendations

Conclusion

- In the present work, a CM-PRSG with DS of 0.0453 was prepared. The optimum conditions are as follows: reaction temperature, 35°C; reaction time, 30 min; concentration of NaOH 4.15 mmol and concentration of MCA 4.15 mmol.
- Fourier-transform infrared analysis of the products indicated that carboxymethylation was successful at the above conditions .

Recommendations

for further studies it is recommended to change the solvent to a mixer of water and alcohols to reduce the viscosity of the reaction system

References

Abow, R.A.M) 2017(. *Characterization, Functional Applications and Cytotoxicity of the Piliostigma reticulatum gum* (Doctoral dissertation, Sudan University of Science and Technology).

Adinugraha, M.P. and Marseno, D.W.,)2005(. Synthesis and characterization of sodium carboxymethylcellulose from cavendish banana pseudo stem (Musa cavendishii LAMBERT). *Carbohydrate Polymers*, **62**(2), 164-169.

Anklam, E.,) 2005(. H.-D. Belitz, W. Grosch, P. Schieberle: Food Chemistry. *Analytical and Bioanalytical Chemistry*, **382**(1), 10-11..

Babajide, O.J., Babajide, O.O., Daramola, A.O. and Mabusela, W.T.,)2008(. Flavonols and an oxychromonol from Piliostigma reticulatum. *Phytochemistry*, **69**(11), 2245-2250..

Badwaik, H.R., Sakure, K., Alexander, A., Dhongade, H. and Tripathi, D.K.,)2016(. Synthesis and characterisation of poly (acryalamide) grafted carboxymethyl xanthan gum copolymer. *International journal of biological macromolecules*, **85**, 361-369.

Bright, M.B., Diedhiou, I., Bayala, R., Assigbetse, K., Chapuis-Lardy, L., Ndour, Y. and Dick, R.P.,)2017(. Long-term Piliostigma reticulatum intercropping in the Sahel: crop productivity, carbon sequestration, nutrient cycling, and soil quality. *Agriculture, Ecosystems & Environment*, **242**.9-22

.Brink, M. and Achigan-Dako, E.G. (Editors),)2012(. Plants Resources of Tropical Africa 16. Fibres. PROTA Foundation, Wageningen, Netherlands/CTA, Wageningen, Netherlands..371.

Chaubey, M. and Kapoor, V.P.,)2001(. Structure of a galactomannan from the seeds of Cassia angustifolia Vahl. *Carbohydrate Research*, **332**(4), 439-444.

26

Chen, Y., Wu, X., Miao, X., Luo, J. and Jiang, B.,) 2010(. Determination of the degree of substitution of hydroxypropyl guar gum at C-6 by Pyrolysis-Gas Chromatography spectrometry. *Carbohydrate Polymers*, **82**(3),.829-832.

Coviello, T., Matricardi, P., Marianecci, C. and Alhaique, F.,)2007(. Polysaccharide hydrogels for modified release formulations. *Journal of controlled release*, **119**(1), 5-24.

Cramer, C.J.,)2002(. Essentials of Computational Chemistry: Theories and Models.

Crini, G.,)2005(. Recent developments in polysaccharide-based materials used as adsorbents in wastewater treatment. *Progress in polymer science*, **30**(1), 38-70.

Cui, S.W.,)2000(. Polysaccharide gums from agricultural products: Processing, structures and functionality. CRC Press.

Dakia, P.A., Blecker, C. Robert, C., Wathelet, B.and Paquot, M.,)2008(Composition and physicochemical properties of locust bean gum extracted from whole seeds by acid or water dehulling pretreatment. *Food Hydrocolloids*, **22**(5), 807-818.

Dakia, P.A., Wathelet, B. and Paquot, M.,)2007(. Isolation and chemical evaluation of carob (Ceratonia siliqua L.) seed germ. *Food Chemistry*, **102**(4), .1368-1374.

Dea, I.C. and Morrison, A.,)1975(. Chemistry and interactions of seed galactomannans. In *Advances in carbohydrate chemistry and biochemistry* **31**, 241-312.

Diack, M., Sene, M., Badiane, A.N., Diatta, M. and Dick, R.P.,)2000(. Decomposition of a native shrub, Piliostigma reticulatum, litter in soils of semiarid Senegal. *Arid soil research and rehabilitation*, **14**(3), 205-218.

El Amine HM.)1990(. Trees and Shrubs of the Sudan. Ithaca Press, England.

Eyler, R.W., Klug, E.D. and Diephuis, F.,)1947(. Determination of degree of substitution of sodium carboxymethylcellulose. *Analytical chemistry*, **19**(1), .24-27.

Ferro, M., Castiglione, F., Panzeri, W., Dispenza, R., Santini, L., Karlsson, H.J., de Wit, P.P. and Mele, A.,)2017(. Non-destructive and direct determination of the degree of substitution of carboxymethyl cellulose by HR-MAS 13C NMR spectroscopy. *Carbohydrate polymers*, **169**, 16-22.

Ganesamoorthi, B., Kalaivanan, S., Dinesh, R. and Anand, K.,)2015(. Optimization technique using response surface method for USMW process. *Procedia-Social and Behavioral Sciences*, **189**, 169-174.

Grasdalen, H. and Painter, T.,)1980(. NMR studies of composition and sequence in legume-seed galactomannans. *Carbohydrate Research*, **81**(1), 59-66.

Gupta, A.P. and Verma, D.K.,)2014(. Preparation and characterization of carboxymethyl guar gum nanoparticles. *International journal of biological macromolecules*, **68**, 247-250.

Gupta, A.P. and Verma, D.K.,)2015(. Synthesis and characterization of carboxymethyl guar gum nanoparticles stabilized polyaniline/carboxymethyl guar gum nanocomposites. *Journal of Nanostructure in Chemistry*, **5**(4), 405-412.

Gupta, S., Sharma, P. and Soni, P.L.,)2004(. Carboxymethylation of Cassia occidentalis seed gum. *Journal of applied polymer science*, **94**(4), 1606-1611.

Gurd, F.R.,)1967(. [62] Carboxymethylation. In *Methods in enzymology* **11**, 532-541.

Gurd, F.R.,)1972(. [34a] Carboxymethylation. In *Methods in enzymology* **25**, 424-438.

28

Harden, E.A., Falshaw, R., Carnachan, S.M., Kern, E.R. and Prichard, M.N.,)2009(. Virucidal activity of polysaccharide extracts from four algal species against herpes simplex virus. *Antiviral research*, **83**(3), 282-289.

Hebeish, A., Khalil, M.I. and Hashem, A.,)1990(. Carboxymethylation of starch and oxidized starches. *Starch-Stärke*, **42**(5), 185-191.

Hernandez, R.R., Debenport, S.J., Leewis, M.C.C., Ndoye, F., Soumare, A., Thuita, M., Gueye, M., Miambi, E., Chapuis-Lardy, L., Diedhiou, I. and Dick, R.P.,)2015(. The native shrub, Piliostigma reticulatum, as an ecological "resource island" for mango trees in the Sahel. *Agriculture, Ecosystems & Environment*, **204**, 51-61.

Hong, L.T.R., Borrmeister, B., Dautzenberg, H. and Philipp, B.,)1978(. Zur Ermittlung des Substitutionsgrades löslicher Carboxymethylcellulose durch Polyelektrolyttitration. *Zellstoff und Papier*, 207-210.

Huang, H. and Yang, X.,) 2004(. Synthesis of polysaccharide-stabilized gold and silver nanoparticles: a green method. *Carbohydrate research*, **339**(15), 2627-2631.

Janes, K.A., Calvo, P. and Alonso, M.J.,)2001(. Polysaccharide colloidal particles as delivery systems for macromolecules. *Advanced drug delivery reviews*, **47**(1), 83-97.

Jansson, P.E., Kenne, L. and Lindberg, B.,)1975(. Structure of the extracellular polysaccharide from Xanthomonas campestris. *Carbohydrate Research*, **45**(1), 275-282.

Jansson, P.E., Lindberg, B. and Sandford, P.A.,)1983(. Structural studies of gellan gum, an extracellular polysaccharide elaborated by Pseudomonas elodea. *Carbohydrate Research*, **124**(1),135-139..

Kamel, S. and Jahangir, K.,)2007(. Optimization of carboxymethylation of starch in organic solvents. *International Journal of Polymeric Materials*, **56**(5), 511-519.

29

Kapoor, V.P., Taravel, F.R., Joseleau, J.P., Milas, M., Chanzy, H. and Rinaudo, M.,)1998(. Cassia spectabilis DC seed galactomannan: structural, crystallographical and rheological studies. *Carbohydrate Research*, **306**(1-2), 231-241.

Klugman, K.P., Koornhof, H.J., Robbins, J.B. and Le Cam, N.N.,)1996(. Immunogenicity, efficacy and serological correlate of protection of Salmonella typhi Vi capsular polysaccharide vaccine three years after immunization. *Vaccine*, **14**(5), 435-438..

Kumar, A. and Ahuja, M.,)2012(. Carboxymethyl gum kondagogu: synthesis, characterization and evaluation as mucoadhesive polymer. *Carbohydrate polymers*, **90**(1), 637-643.

McCleary, B.V. and Matheson, N.K.,)1974(. α -D-Galactosidase activity and galactomannan and galactosylsucrose oligosaccharide depletion in germinating legume seeds. *Phytochemistry*, **13**(9), 1747-1757.

McCleary, B.V. and Matheson, N.K.,) 1975(. Galactomannan structure and β -mannanase and β -mannosidase activity in germinating legume seeds. *Phytochemistry*, **14**(5-6), 1187-1194.

McCleary, B.V., Matheson, N.K. and Small, D.M.,)1976(. Galactomannans and a galactoglucomannan in legume seed endosperms: Structural requirements for β -mannanase hydrolysis. *Phytochemistry*, **15**(7), 1111-1117.

McMurry.J,)2008(, organic chemistry, seventh edition, Thomson learning Inc, USA.

Morrison, R.T. and Boyd, R.N.,)2002(. Chapter 18: Alkaline hydrolysis of esters. *Organic Chemistry, 6th Ed., Prentice-Hall Inc., New Jersey, USA*,

.Mukherji .S.M, Singh .S.P, Kapoor .R.P.,)2010(organic chemistry .second edition, New age international (P) limited (formerly Wiley eastern Limited), New Delhi.

Mustifa, R.A., Baraka, A.M., Hassan, E.A. and Osman, M.E.,)2017(. Comparative Study of the Composition of Gum and Germ in Piliostigma reticulatum (Carob) Seeds.

Novák, C., Pokol, G., Sztatisz, J., Szente, L. and Szejtli, J.,)1993(. Determination of the degree of substitution of hydroxypropylated β -cyclodextrins by differential scanning calorimetry. *Analytica chimica acta*, **282**(2), 313-316.

Okamoto, Y. and Kaida, Y.,)1994(. Resolution by high-performance liquid chromatography using polysaccharide carbamates and benzoates as chiral stationary phases. *Journal of Chromatography A*, **666**(1-2),403-419.

Pacheco-Aguirre, J., Rosado-Rubio, G., Betancur-Ancona, D. and Chel-Guerrero, L.,)2010(. Physicochemical properties of carboxymethylated flamboyant (Delonix regia) seed gum Propiedades fisicoquímicas de la goma carboximetilada de flamboyán (Delonix regia). *CyTA–Journal of Food*, **8**(3), 169-176.

Prajapati, V.D., Jani, G.K., Moradiya, N.G., Randeria, N.P., Nagar, B.J., Naikwadi, N.N. and Variya, B.C.,)2013(. Galactomannan: a versatile biodegradable seed polysaccharide. *International journal of biological macromolecules*, **60**, 83-92.

Pushpamalar, V., Langford, S.J., Ahmad, M. and Lim, Y.Y.,)2006(. Optimization of reaction conditions for preparing carboxymethyl cellulose from sago waste. *Carbohydrate Polymers*, **64**(2),312-318.

Rajput, G., Pandey, I.P. and Joshi, G.,)2015(. Carboxymethylation of Cassia angustifolia seed gum: Synthesis and rheological study. *Carbohydrate polymers*, **117**, 494-500.

Ralph, J., Grabber, J.H. and Hatfield, R.D.,)1995(. Lignin-ferulate crosslinks in grasses: active incorporation of ferulate polysaccharide esters into ryegrass lignins. *Carbohydrate research*, **275**(1), 167-178. Ramos, L.A., Frollini, E. and Heinze, T.,)2005(. Carboxymethylation of cellulose in the new solvent dimethyl sulfoxide/tetrabutylammonium fluoride. *Carbohydrate Polymers*, **60**(2), 259-267.

Robinson, G., Ross-Murphy, S.B. and Morris, E.R.,)1982(. Viscositymolecular weight relationships, intrinsic chain flexibility, and dynamic solution properties of guar galactomannan. *Carbohydrate Research*, **107**(1), 17-32.

Sahin, U.K.,)2018(. an easy and accurate method for determining degree of substitution on carboxymethylated cotton fabric. *tekstil ve konfeksiyon*, **28**(2), 118-124..

Sharma, B.R., Kumar, V., Soni, P.L. and Sharma, P.,)2003(. Carboxymethylation of Cassia tora gum. *Journal of applied polymer science*, **89**(12),.3216-3219.

Srivastava, M. and Kapoor, V.P.,)2005(. Seed galactomannans: an overview. *Chemistry & Biodiversity*, **2**(3), 295-317.

Stojanović, Ž., Jeremić, K., Jovanović, S. and Lechner, M.D.,)2005(. A comparison of some methods for the determination of the degree of substitution of carboxymethyl starch. *Starch-Stärke*, **57**(2), 79-83.

Tijsen, C.J., Scherpenkate, H.J., Stamhuis, E.J. and Beenackers, A.A.C.M.,)1999(. Optimisation of the process conditions for the modification of starch. *Chemical Engineering Science*, **54**(13-14), 2765-2772.

Tolstoguzov, V.B.,)1991(. Functional properties of food proteins and role of protein-polysaccharide interaction. *Food Hydrocolloids*, **4**(6), 429-468.

Varshney, V.K., Gupta, P.K., Naithani, S., Khullar, R., Bhatt, A. and Soni, P.L.,)2006(. Carboxymethylation of α -cellulose isolated from Lantana camara with respect to degree of substitution and rheological behavior. *Carbohydrate polymers*, **63**(1), 40-45.

Wielinga, W.C.,)2009(. Galactomannans. In *Handbook of hydrocolloids* (228-251). Woodhead Publishing.

Wu, Z., Zhou, P., Yang, J. and Li, J.,)2017(. Determination of the optimal reaction conditions for the preparation of highly substituted carboxymethyl Cassia tora gum. *Carbohydrate polymers*, **157**, 527-532.

Yadav, M., Mishra, D.K. and Behari, K.,)2011(. Synthesis of partially hydrolyzed graft copolymer (H-partially carboxymethylated guar gum-g-methacrylic acid): A superabsorbing material. *Carbohydrate polymers*, **85**(1), 29-36.

Yang, F.C. and Liau, C.B.,)1998(. The influence of environmental conditions on polysaccharide formation by Ganoderma lucidum in submerged cultures. *Process Biochemistry*, **33**(5), 547-553.

Appendix



Figure: Piliostigma reticulatum tree



Figure: *Piliostigma reticulatum* branch with fruit pods



Figure: Piliostigma reticulatum dried seeds



Figure: *Piliostigma reticulatum* seeds in 60% H₂SO₄ on minute 1



Figure: *Piliostigma reticulatum* seeds in 60% H₂SO₄ after 30 minutes



Figure: Piliostigma reticulatum seeds in water after 24h



Figure: Piliostigma reticulatum seeds before pealing the coat



Figure: *Piliostigma reticulatum* seeds after pealing the coat



Figure: Piliostigma reticulatum gum



Figure: Piliostigma reticulatum grem



Figure: Piliostigma reticulatum gum powder



Figure: carboxymethyl Piliostigma reticulatum gum